
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Development 
Control Board

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown

Councillor J Burrell
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell

Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters

Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Thursday 17 January 2019 at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
9 January 2019



INTRODUCTION
The function of the Development Control Board is to consider planning applications and also to take 
enforcement action against breaches of planning control and related matters.  

AGENDA LAYOUT
Reports on a planning application describes the application site, the proposed development, any 
relevant planning history, responses from those who have been consulted on the application along with 
any other comments received, and, lastly, a report on the main planning issues relevant to the 
application.  The reports also contain a recommendation to the Board Members, generally either for 
refusal or approval. The recommendation appears at the beginning and at the end of each report. There 
is a narrative by the Planning Officer of his/her consideration and the reason for refusal, or the 
conditions to be attached to an approval, are set out at the end of the report. 

UPDATE
The main agenda is printed some time before the Board meeting. The Update is a document which is 
prepared the day before the meeting and circulated to Members. It provides information about 
applications to be considered at the meeting which has emerged since the agenda was printed. This 
could include further comments from interested parties, recent changes to the application and 
amendments to the recommendation. Copies of the Update are made available to the public.

THE MEETING
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman sit on the dais at the front of the Council Chamber.  Planning Officers 
sit on their right and a legal representative and the Committee Co-ordinator usually sit on their left.  

The Chairman may take agenda items in an order which reflects the degree of public interest.   

The Chairman will propose each item and invite Members to indicate if they would like to discuss. If an 
item is not proposed for discussion, the Chairman will ask Members to vote in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. However, those items where a member of the public has registered to speak 
against the Officer recommendation will be discussed by the Board.  There will be no need for public 
speakers to address the Board if the speaker was going to support the Officer recommendation. 

For items for discussion, the Planning Officer will usually make a presentation, describing the proposal, 
outlining the main planning considerations and concluding with the recommendation.  Where a request 
to speak has been made by 12 noon on the designated date, and granted, the Chairman will invite 
speakers to sit in a designated area equipped with microphones. Where the Officer’s recommendation is 
to allow the application, the objectors will have the opportunity to speak first, followed by any supporter.  
The reverse order will apply in cases where the Officer’s recommendation is that the application be 
refused. Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to make their points.  

Members or Officers may clarify any points with the speaker(s) before Members consider the 
application. Thereafter, no public speaking will be allowed and the speaker(s) will be asked to return to 
the public gallery.

The Chairman has the discretion to curtail or extend speaking in individual cases if it is considered 
appropriate.

SITE MEETINGS
If it becomes apparent during the Board’s deliberations on an application that the Board cannot fully 
appreciate the impact of a proposal without seeing the site first, Members may decide to defer the 
application so that a site meeting can be held.  If agreed, the item will not be discussed further at this 
meeting. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

 AGENDA

Thursday 17 January 2019

Update

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 
December 2018 

(Pages 3 - 6)

4. References from other committees 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there 
are any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

6. 18/01002/OUT
 The Alma, 26 High Street, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0AB 

(Pages 7 - 22)

Proposal
An outline application (for consideration of access, appearance, 
layout and scale only) for the erection of a 3 storey building with 
basement to be used as a 13 bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation with communal facilities, bins and bike store.

Recommendation 
Approval.

7. 18/01371/TPO 
 3 St Pauls Close, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 OBA. 

(Pages 23 - 28)

Proposal

An application to fell 1 Lime tree which is the subject of Tree 
Preservation Order No.3 1991

Recommendation 

Refusal

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PCW2ZDBQMR400
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PH3M7ZBQ00L00


ITEMS FOR INFORMATION IN PUBLIC

8. Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers (Pages 29 - 48)



UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

17th January 201

Item 6 The Alma, 26 High Street 18/01002/OUT

THE PROPOSAL

Additional information has been submitted by the applicant with regards to surface water 
drainage: 

“i) Surface water will in part be contained being held on site for disposal via evaporation. The 
green roof provides for this.

ii) Remaining surface water will be used for recycling for non-potable water at the 
development, such as the flushing of toilets. This is ideal for a scheme such as this with a 
thorough management regime. The large basement provides the space for requisite plant 
such as within the under-stairs area, in the large cupboard, or within the over-sized WC.

The fundamental matter is that all surface water will be held on-site within the red line 
boundary.”

The applicant has confirmed that there are no wall paintings inside the building (this was 
also evident from the Member’s site visit) but they have suggested that the large external 
painting, which is attached to the building with screws, could be removed and offered to the 
local historic society. I therefore suggest that informative no.6 is amended as set out below.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

KCC SUDs/Flood Risk have confirmed that the details provided with regard to the surface 
water are acceptable and have no objection subject to the imposition of additional 
conditions.

 Condition 7 already requires details of the surface water drainage as well as foul drainage.  I 
therefore propose that condition 7 is amended as set out below and an additional condition 
is added as requested.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Two additional objections have been received from local residents. They comment on the 
detrimental impact on the adjacent residential property, number 28, in terms of an 
overbearing effect noting the significant depth of the building beyond the rear of the property. 
They also consider that the building should be preserved as part of Swanscombe’s history 
and that the development would have a harmful impact in terms of adding to on-street 
parking pressures.  

I consider that these issues are addressed in the main agenda report.



RECOMMENDATION

That the recommendation remain as set out in the main agenda but that condition 7 and 
informative number 6 be amended as set out below and that a further condition (number 15) 
be added as below: 

Condition 07 (as amended)

Before the commencement of development hereby approved, details of the surface and foul 
water drainage, which shall include a sustainable surface water drainage scheme and shall 
demonstrate that all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate change 
adjusted critical 100 year storm can be accommodated within the proposed development 
layout, that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to 
ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters and appropriate operational, 
maintenance and access requirements for each drainage feature or SuDS component are 
adequately considered, including any proposed arrangements for future adoption by any 
public body or statutory undertaker, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details shall be implemented as approved prior to the first 
occupation of the development. 

Reason 07: To ensure satisfactory means of foul and surface water drainage in accordance 
with Policies DP2 and CS24 of the adopted Local Plan. 

Condition 15

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the development 
hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining to the surface water 
drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, has been submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable modelled operation of the 
drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed. The Report shall contain 
information and evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of 
inlets, outlets and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in 
construction including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; 
topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features; and an operation and maintenance manual 
for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.

Reason 15: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with and 
subsequently maintained in accordance with Policies DP2 and CS24 of the adopted Local 
Plan.

Informative number 06

The applicant is advised to offer the historic painting currently attached to the flank wall of 
the public house to the local historic society before its removal and/or the demolition of the 
building.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Development Control Board held on Thursday 13 
December 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt JP (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

66. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Bardoe, 
Burrell, Hayes, Maddison, Mote, Perfitt and Mrs Peters

The Board noted the appointment of Councillors Davis, and D L Reynolds as 
substitute Members for Councillors Bardoe and Burrell respectively. 

The Chairman welcomed Ms Angela Coull to the meeting, Ms Coull a KCC 
Highways Engineer had been invited to advise members on any Highways 
matters which might arise from the Applications to be considered this evening. 

67. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received, although Councillor Pat Kelly 
informed the Board that he was a resident of North Road, Dartford, and that 
item 9 on the Agenda related to that road. 

68. FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE AND THE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONSTRAINTS RELATING TO THE FILMING OR RECORDING OF THE 
MEETING 

The Clerk to the Board explained the fire evacuation procedure and the 
arrangements and constraints relating to the filming or recording of the 
Meeting.

69. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 
NOVEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 13 DECEMBER 2018

2

That the minutes of the Development Control Board held on 8 November 
2018, be confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.

70. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 

The Chairman announced that there were no matters referred for the Board to 
consider.

71. URGENT ITEMS 

It was reported that there were no urgent items for the Board to consider.

72. 18/01074/OUT STONE LODGE COMPLEX, COTTON LANE, STONE, DA2 
6PD 

The Board received a report on an application for outline permission for the 
erection of an eight form entry secondary school, up to 140 residential 
dwellings in total across two sites and provision of 19ha of public open space, 
with all matters reserved except that of access.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.  The Officer 
presenting the case also noted that an additional representation from Esso 
Petroleum had been received stating that there must be no works within a 6 
metre safe zone from the oil pipeline that passes through the site.

The Chairman introduced Mr Winchester who spoke opposing the application.

It was noted that a report on the reserved matters arising from the Application 
would be submitted to the Board in due course, and that Officers would 
consider the introduction of parking controls along the new access to the 
school site from London Road at the reserved matters stage.
.

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved subject to 

i. The Conditions, Reasons and Informatives set out in the report, (with 
Authority delegated to Officers to approve minor amendments to 
wording) 

ii. The amended Conditions and Reasons set out in the Update, 
circulated.

iii. The completion of a relevant S106 agreement by the applicant, 
securing obligations detailed in paragraph 131 of the report.

73. 18/00954/COU  MEETING ROOM BELOW 91 HILLTOP GARDENS, 
DARTFORD, KENT, DA1 5JF 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 13 DECEMBER 2018

3

The Board received a report on an application for the change of use of the 
ground floor of this property from a meeting lounge, to a 2 bed adapted 
property and the use of communal lawn as a private garden with associated 
boundary treatment.

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved subject to the Conditions and Reasons set 
out in the report.

74. 18/01149/ FUL 7 NEW BARN ROAD, SOUTHFLEET, KENT, DA3 7LQ 

The Board considered a report on an application to raise the height of the roof 
and for the erection of extensions, for the conversion of the existing bungalow 
into a 5 bedroomed, two storey, detached dwelling.

RESOLVED

To approve the Application subject to the Conditions and Reasons set out in 
the report.

75. 18/01141/VCON  LAND ADJACENT TO 1 NORTH ROAD DARTFORD 
KENT DA1 3LS 

The Board received a report on an application to vary Condition 2 of planning 
permission DA/15/01167/FUL which was granted on appeal, to allow the 
formation of a larger parking bay at the property.

It was noted that previous advice from KCC highways prohibited a parking 
bay closer than 20 metre to the junction of Princes Road and North Road, and 
this was cited in the previous scheme refusal. 

However the KCC highways policy relating to vehicular crossovers requires a 
maximum distance of fifteen metres from the Junction. The proposed 
extension to the parking bay would be 16m from the junction and therefore 
KCC highways no longer raise an objection. Members expressed concern at 
the change in policy and sought advice with regard to the reason for this. Ms 
Coull advised that she thought it would have been based on evidence relating 
to road safety but agreed to look into the reasoning behind the change, and 
report her findings back to the Board.

RESOLVED

To approve the variation of planning permission DA/15/01167/FUL to allow 
the formation of a larger parking bay at the property and the issue of a fresh 
planning permission subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons set out 
in the report.

76. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL QUARTERLY STATISTICS 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 13 DECEMBER 2018

4

The Board received a statistical analysis of the work undertaken by the 
Development Control division for the period 1 July to 30 September 2018.

The Chairman thanked the Development Control Officers for their hard work 
demonstrated by the statistical returns and drew Members’ attention to the 
numbers of cases which were being dealt with on a regular basis.

Members noted the information. 

77. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Members received, for information, a report on the decisions taken by Officers 
under delegated powers for the period 25 October to 29 November 2018.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

78. CHAIRMAN 

As this was the last meeting of 2018 Councillor Hunnisett thanked all Board 
Members and Officers for their hard work in the year and wished all a Happy 
Christmas and a peaceful and prosperous New Year.

The meeting closed at 8.05 pm

Councillor D E HUNNISETT
CHAIRMAN



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

17 January 2019

Reference: 18/01002/OUT Officer: Mrs Emma Eisinger

Location: The Alma
26 High Street
Swanscombe
Kent
DA10 0AB

Proposal: Outline application (consideration of access, appearance, layout and scale 
only) for erection of a 3 storey building with basement to be used as a 13 
bedroom House in Multiple Occupation with communal facilities, bins and bike 
store

Applicant: Mr Jazz and Francisco Doklu and Diaz-Ramirez

Agent: Designscape Consultancy Limited/Kingsley Hughes

Parish / Ward: Swanscombe & Greenhithe T.C. / Swanscombe

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of Outline Permission.

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site area totals 200 sq.m and is currently occupied by The Alma public 
house (currently disused), which is a two storey pitched roof building with a single storey flat 
roof projection to the front.  The application site lies opposite the entrance to Swanscombe 
Railway Station and at the northern end of the Swanscombe High Street.  Terraced residential 
properties lie to the east and south fronting the High Street. There is a parade of shops 
approximately 27 metres to the south, beyond which the High Street is made up of a mix of 
residential and commercial uses.  The buildings along the High Street are mainly 2 storey.

(2) Alma Road lies to the north and west of the application site.  This road is characterised 
by 2 storey semi-detached and terraced residential properties.  Some of these properties have 
off-street parking to the front.   The wider area is characterised by a mix of 
commercial/warehouse units, residential and at least two other public houses.  A grade II listed 
building - All Saints Church which has been converted into flats, lies 90 metres to the north of 
the site.

(3) A railway line lies just over 20 metres to the north of the application site in a deep 
cutting.  The site lies within an area of archaeological potential and is within 250m of a former 
landfill site. 

THE PROPOSAL

(4) This outline planning application seeks to secure details of access, appearance, scale 
and layout at this stage.  The only outstanding matter to be considered under a reserved matters 
application is landscaping.  The Alma public house is to be demolished and replaced with a 
three storey building, the footprint of which would occupy the entire area of the application site.  
The building would accommodate a 13 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation.  A basement 
would provide the kitchen and communal lounge area with the bedrooms provided on the 
ground, first and second floors.  The ground floor would also have a small area of communal 
lounge space at the front of the property.  A bike and bin store would be provided to the rear of 
the site. The building is designed to step down to 2 storeys and single storey as it extends to 



the rear.  The building is of a modern design finished with brick, stone, large areas of glazing 
and a green wall.  It would also have a section of green roof.  The design would incorporate a 
single storey flat roof front projection that is slightly less deep than the current projection to the 
public house.

(5) The front of the building is to be set 400mm further back than the existing frontage of 
the public house in order to enable the widening of the footway on the western part of the High 
Street past the application site.

(6) The development has been amended to address officer's concerns in respect of design, 
scale and the small size of the accommodation which were originally described as 'micro flats'.  
The amended scheme now provides for a 13 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation.  

RELEVANT HISTORY

(7) A single storey rear extension to the public house was approved in 1981 under 
81/00606/FUL.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(8) Thames Water: No objection but note that the site is within 15m of their underground 
water assets.

(9) Environmental Health: Recommend that hours of construction are controlled and that 
a condition should be applied that secures adequate acoustic treatment to the windows and 
trickle vents.  

(10) KCC Development Contributions: The development generates the need for additional 
library book stock and request a total of £624.21 to be secured via a Section 106 agreement. 

(11) The NHS note that CIL will be collected for the proposal which will meet the additional 
demands that this scheme will put on the local services. 

(12) KCC Highways: Request that consideration is given to increasing the width of the 
footway outside the application site.  Commenting on the amended scheme which shows the 
increased width of the pavement, they note that this increased width enables KCC to explore 
pedestrian improvements to the existing train station as well as possible improvements to the 
bus stop infrastructure in the future as it provides further width at this pinch point on the High 
Street.  With regards to the lack of parking provided for the scheme, they note the very 
sustainable location of the site. They also note that the existing use on the site does not benefit 
from car parking facilities.  Therefore on balance, KCC Highways do not object.  They note that 
the proposed bin/bike storage doors must not open onto the highway.  

(13) Environment Agency: No objection subject to a condition to ensure that any unidentified 
contamination is dealt with appropriately during construction.  Conditions are also 
recommended to ensure that surface waters are dealt with appropriately and that there is no 
piling permitted without the consent of the local planning authority.

(14) Ebbsfleet Development Corporation: No observations.

(15) KCC Floodrisk/SUDs: Initially requested further information in respect of the drainage 
strategy for the site and raised an objection until they have received further information.  An 
updated consultation response is awaited following the receipt of additional information from 
the applicant to address their comments. I will report this in the update report.

(16) Southern Water: There is a sewer close to the site (but outside of it) and the exact 
position of the sewer must be established before the layout is finalised. Any foul sewage 
disposal will require a formal application to them for connection.  Any disposal of surface water 
should not be via the public foul sewer. Any SUDs scheme should be managed and maintained.  
A condition is suggested to secure details of the foul and surface water drainage at the site.  An 



informative is recommended to advise the applicant to take into account the potential for 
surcharge and to account for this in their drainage design.

(17) KCC Archaeology: Recommend that a condition is imposed to secure archaeological 
field evaluation works and further investigation if necessary.   The site has potential for 
Palaeolithic remains and palaeoenvironmental remains as well as remains associated with the 
early settlement of Swanscombe village. 

(18) Private Sector Housing: A licensable HMO would be created which they would consider 
under their legislation.  Fire safety measures and amenity standards will need to be followed.  
Other regulations will need to be followed under separate legislation.  They note that there is 
no information regarding fire safety measures at this stage. However, they have no comments 
to make on the detailed layout submitted.  

(19) Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council: Whilst the development complies with the 
windfall policies, the development would be contrary to policies CS17 and DP8 due to the poor 
standards of internal space, DP21 due to the lack of evidence to justify the loss of a community 
facility and DP4 due to the lack of off-street parking provision.  Cycle parking is not sufficient.  
The building fills the entire plot and the massing is greater than the existing building.  The 
proposal would be out of character with the area and an overdevelopment of the site.  They 
object to the loss of a 150 year old building.  There are concerns about emergency fire exits.  
The bedrooms on the ground floor will directly front the street offering little privacy and 
protection from noise.  There is no outdoor amenity space for drying clothes or recreation.  

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(20) 149 representations have been received from local residents and members of the 
public, 84 of which support the scheme and 65 object.  A number of these representations were 
received in response to the original scheme for the 'micro-flats'.  A summary of their comments 
is as follows:

Support:
- The development will replace an old pub with anti-social behaviour issues;
- This type of low-cost accommodation for professional people would be good 

for the area and is much needed;
- The design is good for the area;
- The development would provide much needed housing;
- The pub has been an eye-sore for many years;
- Good to see inward investment into Swanscombe;
- If the site isn't developed, it will be left as a derelict building inviting crime and 

anti-social behaviour;
- The site is located close to public transport and amenities and so there is no 

need for a car;
- The contemporary design will be a 'breath of fresh air' to the High Street and 

should encourage similar development in the area;
- The development will bring professionals to the area;
- The development would revitalise the area;
- Supportive of brownfield development;
- The building would improve natural surveillance over the Railway Bridge and 

Alma Road to deter anti-social behaviour.

Object:
- Increased congestion and on-street parking - where will people park?;
- Overdevelopment and over-crowded;
- Additional block of flats is not needed;
- HMOs bring problems to the area;
- Yet another closure of a community facility and lack of justification for its loss;
- Swanscombe needs good quality housing;
- Entrance to the flats will be limited as the footpaths are narrow;
- The roads are already unsafe with on-street parking;



- The public car park cannot be seen as an option for residents of the 
development as this is limited to a maximum of 4 hours;

- Our health service is already at capacity;
- The height is out of keeping with adjacent properties and the development 

would look out of place;
- Although the site is opposite the train station, there are few services that run 

from it and so the site is not as sustainable as it would seem;
- Better to replace the pub with a community facility;
- The Alma is a 'major asset' for the character of the High Street and appears in 

many postcards and photos of Swanscombe;
- This development looks like 'student digs' and will bring lots of noise and 

parking issues;
- Concern about overlooking of no. 1 High Street (opposite side of road);
- Adverse impact on no. 28 ( adjacent property) in terms of the loss of daylight 

and overbearing;
- The ground floor bedrooms would suffer from a very poor outlook and lack of 

privacy;
- Loss of non-designated heritage asset - The Alma is over 150 years old.  No 

justification is given for the loss of this asset;
- No assessment of noise and vibration from the railway has been submitted;
- The building has internal wall paintings of historical value.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(21) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(22) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS7: Employment Land and Jobs
CS10: Housing Provision
CS15: Managing Transport Demand
CS17: Design of Homes
CS18: Housing Mix
CS21: Community Services

(23) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development
DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction
DP12: Historic Environment Strategy
DP13: Designated Heritage Assets
DP21: Securing Community Facilities

(24) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(25) Housing Windfall SPD (2014)

(26) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  The paragraphs most relevant to this 
application are: 11 - presumption in favour of sustainable development; chapter 5 - delivering 
a sufficient supply of homes; chapter 8 - promoting health and safe communities; chapter 9 - 



promoting sustainable transport; chapter 12 - achieving well-designed places and chapter 16 - 
conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(27) I consider the key issues to be the principle of the development in respect of the loss 
of the public house as a community facility and the provision of additional housing as a windfall 
site; the impact on visual amenities; the impact on heritage assets; the impact on highway safety 
and amenity; the adequacy of accommodation and the impact on residential amenities. 

Principle of development

(28) The applicant has submitted a Statement of Community Assets.  This is to address the 
requirements of Policy DP21 which states that development of existing community facilities (a 
public house falls within this definition) to land for non-community purposes will not be permitted 
unless there is clear evidence that the facility is shown to be not needed by the community 
(both current and future planned users) and that all reasonable efforts have been made to 
preserve a community use, including exploration of appropriate solutions to retain the facility 
with operators and local community (where appropriate).  Consideration should include any 
potential future demand arising from new development located within the catchment area of the 
use. 

(29) The applicant notes that The Alma was known to the local community as a 'problem 
pub' with drug use/dealing and anti-social behaviour.  This statement is consistent with the 
comments received in response to this planning application.  According to the statement, the 
pub has changed management several times in the last few years and was most recently sold 
as the owners felt it was not sustainable as a pub.  The licence has been surrendered.  The 
statement appends a letter from an estate agent stating that the pub has been marketed since 
March 2018 with a full marketing campaign.  The pub had 13 viewings but according to the 
estate agent, no one was interested in leasing the pub and no one wanted to keep it as a 
commercial venue with plans instead to convert to residential.  The feedback given was that 
the property would require considerable expenditure for the refurbishment, repair and to ensure 
the property is compliant with modern day regulations, especially given the lack of investment 
by the previous owners and their tenants.  The estate agent notes that a mortgage would have 
been highly unlikely to be secured for the property to be used as a public house due to the 'lack 
of appetite' for lending in the leisure sector.  They also note the presence of 3 other pubs in the 
local area and that the pub industry has suffered as a whole due to a number of factors including 
the smoking ban, recession and unemployment.  

(30) The Statement of Community Assets also considers whether, in accordance with Policy 
DP21, the public house could be put to an alternative community use.  According to the NPPF, 
other community assets include local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open spaces, 
cultural buildings and places of worship.  The Statement identifies the location of a number of 
these community assets within close proximity to the application site.  It lists The Wheatsheaf, 
George & Dragon, the Sun, the Rising Sun and the pub at the pavilion as being close the 
application site.  Other local services such as doctor and dental surgeries are also noted as 
being close by.  

(31) It is clear to me that there are a number of other pub venues in the local area that offer 
this specific type of community facility to local residents.  The site is also close to other important 
community services and facilities and being very small, is unlikely to provide a suitable site for 
other community uses.  The letter from the estate agent confirms that the site has been 
marketed and that there was no interest in using it commercially.  There does not therefore 
appear to be any evidence of demand for this community facility or another in its place and I 
therefore consider that the loss of the site as a community facility would not result in harm and 
that the development would not conflict with Policy DP21.  



(32) Policy CS10 addresses housing need in the Borough and considers windfall residential 
development.  The development at the application site should be considered as a windfall 
development as it provides housing on an unallocated site.  Under this policy, the sustainability 
of the site for housing is a consideration along with the capacity of current and proposed 
infrastructure to serve the development.  The benefits of the development must outweigh the 
disbenefits.  The Housing Windfall SPD gives further guidance on how windfall development 
should be assessed against policy CS10.  It notes that development on brownfield land should 
be given priority over development of greenfield land.  I am clear that the application site is 
classed as brownfield.  In terms of accessibility, the SPD suggests that consideration is given 
to the proximity of the site to key community facilities such as primary schools, health centres, 
playground etc as well as public transport.  A reasonable walking distance of 400m is 
recommended.  In this case, there are two local primary schools which are approximately 600-
800m from the application site.  The medical centre is approximately 700m from the application 
site.  Whilst not an ideal walking distance, there are a number of other facilities that are within 
the 400m walking distance such as the public open space, shops, railway station (directly 
opposite the application site) and bus stops.  I am therefore of the view that in general, the site 
would be accessible.  

(33) For clarity, I have not considered this development against part 2 of Policy DP6 which 
is concerned with windfall developments for five or more dwellings.  The proposed HMO is not 
able to be separated into individual units owing to the very nature of the accommodation which 
has shared kitchen facilities.  

(34) The proposal would provide a type of housing that offers accommodation at a lower 
rent than perhaps individual flats.  In this way, the development holds some benefit to the local 
community or people looking to move into the area.  However this is within the context of a 5 
year housing land supply.  The weight to be given to the provision of new unplanned housing 
is therefore somewhat reduced.  

(35) The balancing exercise weighing up the benefits of the scheme against any disbenefits 
will be summarised in the conclusion to this report once these matters have been fully 
considered.  

(36) Overall, I am of the view that the proposal would be acceptable in principle.  

Impact on visual amenities

(37) The proposed building would offer a very different scale, massing, form and 
architectural style to the predominant two storey dual pitched roof mid C19th buildings along 
the High Street - its immediate context.  The wider context does introduce different styles of 
buildings of differing scales.  Within the wider context therefore, I consider that the proposal 
building would sit comfortably.  In terms of the immediate context however, it's modern design 
would introduce a striking feature building.  Being on a corner, a taller building can, in my 
opinion, work well providing a focal point/landmark.  The main elevation that would be visible 
from longer distances across the railway would be the elevation facing north.  This elevation 
has interesting design features and is of a good quality in my view.  From this northern aspect, 
the building would be experienced within the context of a variety of building forms and styles.  I 
therefore consider that the building, particularly the north elevation would not result in harm to 
the visual amenities or the character of the area.  

(38) The front elevation (east) would be directly visible when exiting the railway station and 
would be viewed in relation to the adjacent two storey end of terrace property - a traditionally 
designed pitched roof dwelling.  The proposed building has been amended to address officer's 
concerns about the visual relationship with the adjacent dwelling.  A slight pitch has been 
introduced to bring the eves height down and the windows have been re-positioned to relate 
better to the regularity of the fenestration to the terraced properties.  The single storey front flat 
roof projection would be smaller than the existing flat roof projection to the Alma.  This design 
feature is already established within the street scene and I therefore consider that be 
acceptable.  I consider that this front elevation and the scale in relation to the adjacent dwelling 



has been improved to the point where visual harm would not be introduced and there would be 
an acceptable relationship between the existing and new buildings.  

(39) The rear elevation benefits from being stepped in scale and height.  Although this is a 
fairly blank elevation, the stepped design will add some articulation and shadowing.  It will most 
certainly read as a rear elevation however but this will be in the context of the rear elevations 
of the terraced properties fronting the High Street.  I therefore consider that on balance, this 
elevation would be acceptable. 

(40) The south facing flank elevation would have the benefit of a green wall which would 
relieve the bulk and mass to some extent.  The applicant's agent has provided CGIs to 
demonstrate that the full flank elevation would be obscured from views by existing buildings 
from most public vantage points.  Its presence within the street scene and its impact on the 
character and appearance of the area is therefore minimised to some extent.  

(41) Details of the landscaping - in this case the green wall and green roof, will follow at the 
reserved matters stage.  The green wall offers some relief to the south flank elevation and is 
an important feature of the scheme from a visual point of view and also as a way of addressing 
the impact on the adjacent residential property.  This impact is discussed in detail below. 

(42) Overall, although this building is strikingly different to the buildings within the immediate 
context, it would sit comfortably within its wider context in my view.  The amendments have 
sought to reduce the scale and integrate the building better with the adjacent terraced 
properties.  The finishing materials would be reflective of finishing materials to a number of the 
properties in the High Street. I now consider that the building would have an acceptable impact 
on the visual amenities of the surrounding area. 

Impact on heritage assets

(43) The building itself holds very limited historic architectural value in my view and although 
its use as a pub may have held some historic value to the local community, I do not consider 
that this would have been to the extent that the building should now be considered as a non-
designated heritage asset.  A local resident has referred to historic wall paintings within the 
building and considers that these should be preserved.  I have not received any other evidence 
of these paintings holding historic value or being by a well-known or established artist.  I 
therefore give this limited weight.  I have however suggested an informative to advise the 
applicant to photograph the paintings and give them to the local historic society as a way of 
preserving them.  

(44) Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states 
that:

"In considering whether to grant planning permission, for development which affects a listed 
building to its setting, the local planning authority…shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses."  

(45) In accordance with Policy DP13 of the Development Policies Plan (2017) development 
affecting the setting of a designated heritage asset should have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving that asset or its setting.  In determining planning applications, the Local Planning 
Authority will pay close regard to the significance of the heritage asset.  If substantial harm to 
the heritage asset is identified then planning permission should be refused (unless there is 
substantial public benefit).  If there is less than substantial harm, this will be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal.   This is in line with the guidance contained within the NPPF.

(46) The new building would be seen within the same vista as the grade II listed All Saints 
Church when viewed from the south.  This listed building is 90 metres away and is surrounded 
by a mix of building styles.  The significance and prominence of the listed building would not be 
reduced or adversely affected by the proposal.  I therefore consider that the setting of this listed 
building would be preserved by the proposal.   



Impact on highway safety/amenity

(47) The proposal does not provide any off-street parking.  The applicant has submitted a 
Transport Statement (TS) to address concerns of local residents in respect of the impact of 
potential increases in on-street parking on local roads.  The TS highlights the accessibility of 
this site to public transport, including Swanscombe Railway Station which is immediately 
opposite the site.  The TS provides details of the frequency of trains and buses and 
connections/destinations close to the site.  It also notes that the HMO accommodation is less 
likely to attract residents with cars and that they know of "many similar schemes" which have 
zero parking.  The TS also asserts that The Alma would have attracted some cars when it was 
used as a public house and points out that cars would be attracted to any other active use of 
this site.  Cycle parking is provided within the scheme and they note that Ebbsfleet International 
is a short cycle ride away.  The TS notes that there are parking restrictions on a number of the 
surrounding roads and they are prepared to commit to preventing the occupants of the HMOs 
from applying for a residents parking permit.  

(48) I can understand the concerns of local residents and note that parking restrictions won't 
prevent on-street parking outside of certain times on the High Street and do not extend into the 
majority of Alma Road and beyond.  I also note that there is no residents parking scheme along 
Alma Road and so the applicant's offer to prevent the HMO residents from applying for a parking 
permit will not in effect have any benefit.  However, I do give significant weight to the location 
of the application site which is directly opposite Swanscombe Railway Station.  The site is also 
close to other public transport options and is highly sustainable in this respect.  A site with such 
good access to public transport as well as being within walking distance of a number of services 
and amenities will be very likely to reduce the need for residents of the scheme to own a car.  I 
also accept that the type of accommodation should be considered in terms of the likelihood of 
residents needing/owning a car.  A HMO is typically occupied by a single person or a couple as 
opposed a family who may be more likely to rely on a car and that occupancy may be shorter 
term so that if the needs of the occupants change with regard to car ownership they may be 
likely to move. Indeed, the Parking Standards SPD notes for HMOs that the level of provision 
will be agreed with the Council and that no minimum parking level is set.  This differs from the 
minimum standards set for dwellings. Lastly, I also give weight to the fact that any active use 
on this site, including the use as a public house, will attract a certain number of staff and 
customer parking.  On balance therefore, I consider that the proposal would be unlikely to attract 
a high number of additional cars associated with it that will result in a significant increase in on-
street parking or to the degree that there would be harm to highway safety or amenity.  KCC 
highways do not object to the proposal.  

(49) A significant benefit of this scheme is that the applicant has responded to the request 
of KCC Highways to increase the width of the pavement to the front of the site.  This is a well-
used footway being on the main route into/out of Swanscombe and opposite the Railway 
Station.  There is also no pavement on the other side of the road opposite the site, increasing 
the need for a good quality footway outside the application site.  At present, largely because of 
the existing flat roof projection to The Alma, the footway is only 1.1m wide which is well below 
the standard width for a pavement (1.8m).  This results in pedestrians having to walk single-file 
or spilling onto the road which is dangerous.  It also limits the potential for any pedestrian 
improvement works that KCC Highways may otherwise be able to install outside the Railway 
Station.  The proposal would see the pavement to the front of the site widened to 1.5m which 
would be the same width as the pavement over the railway bridge to the north and would 
provide a much safer pedestrian environment.  These works could be secured under a pre-
commencement condition and would require the applicant to enter into a Section 278 
agreement with KCC Highways to carry out the works to their standards.  

(50) I have recommended an informative to advise the applicant to ensure that external 
doors do not open onto the public highway.  This is to address KCC Highways comments.  

Adequacy of accommodation:

(51) The proposal has been amended, since initial consultations, to change the type of 
accommodation from separate 'micro flats' to a 13 bedroom HMO.  This was in response to 



officer's concerns about the inadequacy of the internal space provided for the micro flats and 
the failure to comply with Policy DP8 which seeks to ensure that Nationally Described Space 
Standards are met for Class C3 dwellings.  The HMO is not classed as a C3 dwelling and so is 
not required to comply with this element of Policy DP8.  However, the HMO will need to meet 
the requirements of other legislation and will be carefully considered by our Private Sector 
Housing team.  They will consider fire safety as well as the adequacy of the facilities.  There 
are also HMO internal space standards which are exceeded by this development.  The internal 
space would provide a large kitchen and communal lounge area which would receive as much 
natural light as possible by retaining the front projection with windows and a rooflight.  

(52) The design of the development results in most of the windows facing north.  This is to 
avoid overlooking of the properties to the south and to ensure that the building 'addresses' the 
road from design point of view in order to ensure there is overlooking of the street.  The ground 
floor north facing windows would receive the least amount of light and would affect four of the 
bedrooms.  These windows are recessed in order to address concerns about privacy onto the 
road.  Although privacy would be improved, it would be likely to result in a further reduction in 
levels of natural light within these bedrooms.  Whilst this design is not ideal, the majority of the 
bedrooms would be provided with large windows and acceptable levels of natural light.   

(53) It is unfortunate that the proposal does not provide any private external amenity space 
in the form of balconies.  However, Policy DP8 only requires new dwellings (C3) to be provided 
with private amenity space.  This HMO does not fall within the C3 use class. However, there is 
a very large area of public open space a short walk to the southwest of the site as well as a 
small patch of grassed land immediately to the west of the application site.

(54) The location of this site on a busy corner and close to the railway line requires 
consideration of the noise environment for the future residents of the scheme.  The applicant 
has not submitted a noise assessment but potential noise impact is addressed in the Design 
and Access Statement.  This notes that the railway is set within a deep cutting below the level 
of the application site which will baffle the noise significantly.  They have suggested that 
acoustic double glazing with a 10mm acoustic external pane and 6mm inner pane with sound 
absorbent soffit reveals will achieve the necessary sound reduction.  Environmental Health 
have requested the details of the acoustic treatment to the fenestration are secured by condition 
which I have recommended below.   

(55) Overall, I consider that the living environment for the residents of the HMO will be of an 
acceptable standard.  

Impact on residential amenities:

(56) The proposal would introduce a tall and deep projection to the rear of no. 28 High 
Street, the residential property immediately to the south. The fact that this projection would be 
to the north of this property will ensure that there would be no overshadowing resulting in the 
loss of sunlight to the rear elevation/rear garden to no. 28.  However, the loss of daylight and 
overbearing effect on this property is a concern.  The application has been amended to address 
these concerns to a certain extent by the stepping down of the roof and the introduction of the 
green wall.  Such measures will improve the impact in my view and I give weight to the fact that 
the rear garden to no. 28 is very long at approximately 32 metres.  No. 28 has also been 
extended to the rear with the bedroom window at first floor set away from the boundary by 
approximately 2.5 m and the closest ground floor window to the boundary serving a 
bathroom/toilet room.  I consider that on balance, these factors will limit the overall impact of 
the proposed rear projection on no. 28.  In addition, I give some weight to the resultant reduction 
in noise and anti-social behaviour that this neighbour must have experienced at times whilst 
the pub was in use.  The new residential use would be a much better neighbour in this respect.  

(57) The proposed building is a sufficient distance away from other residential properties to 
ensure that there would be no harm to their amenities by way of overlooking, overshadowing 
or an overbearing effect.  



Other issues 

(58) The request by KCC for a contribution of £624.21 towards library bookstock is noted 
but I do not consider that it is reasonable to request this for this development in this case.  The 
cost of drawing up the legal agreement to secure these funds would be likely to exceed the 
financial contribution asked for.  Additionally the KCC comments were based on the original 
scheme for 13 individual flats.  The scheme has now changed to an HMO. 

(59) In terms of surface water drainage, further information has been requested by KCC 
SUDs.  The applicant has sought to address this in their revised Design and Access Statement.  
They note that the green roof, on-site storage, over-sized drains and hoppers and incorporation 
of flow restrictors/limiters will minimise flow to the public system. They consider that the 
development would result in an improved impact on surface water drainage systems.  At the 
time of writing this report, the comments from KCC SUDs are awaited.  Their comments and 
any amended/additional conditions required will be reported to Members in the update report. 

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(60) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(61) In this particular case there are no 'financial benefits' which I am aware of as CIL is not 
charged on Houses in Multiple Occupation.  

(62) The New Homes Bonus is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(63) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(64) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(65) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not 
considered to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(66) Having considered the relevant planning policies, comments from consultees and local 
residents, I am of the view that the proposed House in Multiple Occupation is acceptable in 
principle.  The loss of the public house would not have a detrimental impact on the community 
and the proposal would meet the windfall tests.  The design of the proposal would be strikingly 
different from the immediately surrounding buildings but this would add to the character of the 



area and as a stand-alone design would be of a good quality in my view.  I have not identified 
any harm to heritage assets and consider that on balance, the proposal would provide an 
acceptable standard of accommodation.  The proposal would not provide any off-street parking 
but is in a highly sustainable location and I have given weight to the type of accommodation 
proposed.  Both factors would reduce the need for dedicated parking for the HMO in my view.  
The additional cars which may need to park on street would not be so significant as to result in 
harm to highway safety and amenity in my view.   The impact on the residential amenities of 
no. 28 have been carefully considered and although some overbearing impact has been 
identified, this would not be so great that that scheme should be refused in my view. I have 
given weight to the increased width of the footway to the front of the application site as a 
significant benefit of the scheme.

(67) Overall, I consider that this development would, on balance, be acceptable and that 
outline planning permission should be granted. 

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of outline planning permission for the reasons set out above and subject to the 
conditions set out below:

Conditions:

01 Approval of details of the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved 
matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any 
development is commenced.  Application for approval of the reserved matter(s) shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date 
of this permission.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two 
years from the date of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later.

01 In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 100 rev. A; 101 rev. A; 102 rev. B.

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 The details pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) shall include a soft landscaping 
scheme for a green roof and green wall together with details of how these features will 
be managed and maintained and the approved details shall be implemented prior to first 
occupation (unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be 
implemented at the first opportunity during the following planting season, between 
October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a 
period of ten years.  Any area of the green roof/wall which die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced within the next 
planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

03 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 No development shall take place (excluding the demolition of the building) until the 
footway to the front of the application site has been widened to a total width of 1.5 metres 
in accordance with details to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing.

04 In the interests of highway safety and amenity and to improve the pedestrian environment 
in the area in accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Local Plan.



05 Before commencement of the development hereby approved beyond slab level, details 
and samples of all materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

05 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

06 Before commencement of any building operations on site, details of the following shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in 
accordance with the details approved:
1. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 

written timetable; and
2. any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important 

archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable.

06 To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any 
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through 
preservation in situ or by record in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.

07 Before commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the surface and 
foul water drainage system for the development (including storage facilities where 
necessary) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
details shall be implemented as approved prior to first occupation of the development.

07 To ensure satisfactory means of foul and surface water drainage in accordance with 
Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan and Policy CS24 of the Core Strategy

08 If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified, then no further development shall be carried out (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) until the developer has submitted and received 
approval of an assessment of this unsuspected contamination together with an 
appropriate remediation scheme that is implemented as approved.

08 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

09 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

09 To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with Policy 
DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

10 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

10 To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
aquifer through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and to accord 
with policy DP5 of  the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

11 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved and prior to the installation 
of the windows, details of the type and specification for the windows and trickle vents 



within the north and east elevations of the building, which shall demonstrate that the 
noise levels within the bedrooms conform with Table 4: Indoor Ambient Noise Levels for 
Dwellings identified in BS 8233:2014, Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise 
Reduction for Buildings, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
in writing and shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details.

11 In the interests of residential amenities in accordance with policy DP5 of the adopted 
Local Plan.

12 The cycle parking space shown on the approved plans shall be provided prior to 
occupation of the building hereby approved and kept available for such use at all times 
and no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or 
to preclude vehicular access thereto.

12 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory cycle parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

13 The building hereby permitted shall be only for a House in Multiple Occupation (sui 
generis) and for no other uses, including any other falling within any Class of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, (or for any order 
amending, revoking and re-enacting that Order) and any other use whether permitted by 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not.

13 In the interests of amenities and highway safety in accordance with Policies DP3 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

14 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

14 To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policies DP2, DP4 and 
DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

INFORMATIVES

01 It appears that this development involves work close to a boundary, which may come 
under the terms of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.  If it does, you will need to serve notice 
on your neighbour before undertaking any work.  It would therefore be advisable for you 
to ensure that you meet any requirements of the Act before starting any work.

02 The applicant is advised to contact Kent Highway Services on 08458 247800 with 
regards to obtaining a license to carry out works to a public highway.

03 The applicant is advised to seek advice from Environmental Health on 01322 343434 as 
to how to minimise the impact of noise from demolition/construction work on local 
residents and how to mitigate/suppress dust during demolition and construction works.

04 This site is within 250 metres of a known landfill site and your attention is drawn to Part 
C of the Building Regulations, which requires a gas proof membrane to be installed as 
part of the construction.

05 The applicant is advised to take into account in the detailed design of the proposed 
drainage system the possibility of surcharging within the public sewerage system in order 
to protect the development from potential flooding.

06 The applicant is advised to photograph any historic paintings or other interesting features 
of the public house prior to its demolition and submit the photographs to the local historic 



society for preservation.

07 The applicant is advised to ensure that external doors to the building do not open onto 
the public highway.



Galley Hill

Trading Estate

Swanscombe

LONDON ROAD

ORCHARD ROAD

H
IG

H
 STR

EET
ALL SAINTS CLOSE

THE GROVE

ALMA ROAD

Office

5

Masts
6

60

30

16

2

21

11

74

47

28

9 to 14
8

25

27

33 to 37
1 to 14

12 to 22

4

39

15

31

1

51

3

18a

32

29

38

58

48
21 to 24

19

Shelter

63

88

and Dragon

Sub Sta

SL

LB
Station

The Alma

28.2m

29.9m

29.8m

29.5m

28.5m

27.6m

Car Park

BM 30.27m

BM
 31.25m

Pavilion TCB

MS

GP

PO

PC

PH

El

2

ORCHARD ROAD

38

6

30

Galley Hill

1

TCB

ALMA ROAD

27

1

5

5

2

11

5

1

LB

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01002/OUT

Address : The Alma 26 High Street Swanscombe Kent DA10 0AB

Date: 3 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

17 January 2019

Reference: 18/01371/TPO Officer: Mrs B Lidster

Location: 3 St Pauls Close
Swanscombe
Kent
DA10 0BA

Proposal: Application to fell 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1991

Applicant: Miss N Kite

3 St Pauls Close
Swanscombe
Kent
DA10 0BA

Parish / Ward: Swanscombe & Greenhithe T.C. / Swanscombe

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal of consent to fell.

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) No. 3 St Pauls Close is an end of terrace property located within a small development 
off St Pauls Close and to the east of Swanscombe Street.

(2) The tree in question is located to the rear garden of the property.  It is visible both from 
the front of the property as well as to the rear in Swanscombe Street.

THE PROPOSAL

(3) The proposal is to fell the lime tree protected under TPO no. 3 1991.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(4) 16/01370/TPO Application to completely reduce crown and pollard back to previous 
points 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1991   29.09.2016 Consent

(5) 16/01030/TPO Application to fell 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 
No.3 1991 18.08.2016 Refused

(6) 10/01050/TPO Application to pollard to height of 5m from ground level, remove trunk 
and basal suckers and reduce tree debris of 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 
No.3 1991 14.09.2010 Consent

(7) 07/01039/TPO Application to crown reduce by 30%, crown thin by 30%, crown lift to 
4 metres above ground level and remove base growth of 1 Lime tree subject to Tree 
Preservation Order No.3 1991 28.11.2007 Consent

(8) 05/00518/TPO Application to trim back branches of 1 Lime tree subject to Tree 
Preservation Order No.3 1991 16.12.2005 Consent



COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(9) Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council - The Town Council object to this 
application as the tree is healthy and there are insufficient arboricultural grounds to justify the 
removal of 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1991. The tree makes a 
significant contribution to the visual amenity of the locality and its loss would be prejudicial to 
those amenities.
The Planning Authority previously refused a replica application under reference number 
DA/16/01030/TPO.

(10) Tree Consultant - The trees are in robust health, so do not need to be removed for 
safety or short term life reasons.  There is pruning possible, which has been carried out in the 
past with permission.  The tree can be repollard to the previous points.  This will not make any 
large wounds and will happily regrow.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(11) Four letters of support were submitted by the applicant with the application. These are 
letters from some of the residents that have been consulted as part of the application process 
and therefore these have been considered as letters of representation. They comment that: 

- the sap from the tree is a constant rain of sticky liquid which sets like glue, 
coating and killing plants, rotting decking and conservatory roofs, and covering 
washing children's play equipment; 

- when the wind blows the sap travels further coating cars, children's toys and 
gardens; 

- living with the trees is increasingly difficult and expensive as trees need to be 
pollarded every 2 to 3 years; 

- restricts and reduces light to property; 
- tree roots are lifting patio; 
- worry tree will come down in high winds; 
- cut down access to sky and broadband; 
- not happy with trimming the trees as encourages a growth spurt which adds to 

the problem; 
- have put on hold plans for a conservatory as would walk into a completely 

shaded garden; 
- had to astro turf the garden just to be able to use the garden; 
- birds drop mess all over the garden and children's toys; 
- have to pay higher insurance premiums; 

RELEVANT POLICIES

(12) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(13) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011 - No relevant Policies

(14) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 - 
DP2:  Good design in Dartford
DP25:  Nature Conservation and Enhancement

(15) The NPPF is also a material consideration as well as the NPPG - Tree Preservation 
Orders and Trees in a Conservation Area.  This states:

"When considering an application the authority is advised to:

- assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the 
proposal on the amenity of the area;



- consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, 
having regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support 
of it;

- consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or 
granted subject to conditions;

- consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;
- consider other material considerations, including development plan policies 

where relevant; and
- ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.

Authorities should bear in mind that they may be liable to pay compensation for loss or damage 
as a result of refusing consent or granting consent subject to conditions. However, if the 
authority believes that some loss or damage is foreseeable, it should not grant consent 
automatically. It should take this factor into account alongside other key considerations, such 
as the amenity value of the tree and the justification for the proposed works, before reaching 
its final decision."

"In general terms, it follows that the higher the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the 
greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, the stronger the reasons needed 
before consent is granted. However, if the amenity value is lower and the impact is likely to be 
negligible, it may be appropriate to grant consent even if the authority believes there is no 
particular arboricultural need for the work."

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(16) The key issues are the visual impact of allowing the loss of the tree/the amenity value 
of the tree; whether there is a need to remove the tree from an arboricultural point of view and 
whether the justification put forward for the removal of the tree is accepted.  

Visual impact/amenity value of the tree

(17) The tree is visible between Nos. 3 and 4 St Pauls Close when viewed from the front of 
the property.  To the rear the tree, along with the neighbour's tree and a band of others to the 
southern boundaries of Nos. 1a, 1b and 1c form a pleasant tree covering in the area. The loss 
of this one lime tree would have a significant detrimental visual impact on the visual amenity of 
the area in my opinion.  It is also likely that if this lime tree is allowed to be removed then further 
applications for the removal of other trees in this area would be forthcoming.  The overall 
detrimental impact of this on visual amenities would be substantial.  

Arboricultural need

(18) The Council's tree consultant has visited the property and looked at the health of the 
tree which is the subject of this application.  In his opinion the tree is in robust health and there 
is no need for it to be removed on the grounds of safety or when considering the longevity of 
the tree.  He advises that there is no valid arboricultural reason for the felling of the lime tree 
therefore.  

Other justification 

(19) Given the letters received in support of the application the tree is clearly causing a 
problem to residents in the manner listed above.  The applicant gives many of the same reasons 
as justification for the felling of the lime tree. 

(20) The problems identified are in the main typical of living near any trees and this is not 
an uncommon situation. Pruning the tree on a regular basis would help to reduce the impact of 
the tree on the applicant and neighbours but obviously this does come at a cost.    



(21) The problems identified by the occupants of Nos. 1a, 1b and 1c appear to refer to the 
trees at the ends of their own gardens and not the particular tree which is the subject of this 
application.   However, the lime tree will be likely to add to a cumulative problem.  

(22) The key question is therefore whether the problems experienced by the applicant and 
her neighbours would justify the felling of the tree taking into account its amenity value.   I have 
set out above that the amenity value of this lime tree is high as it can be seen from a number 
of vantage points and contributes to a valuable tree coverage in this urban area.  It is my strong 
view that the justification put forward for the felling of the tree is not sufficient to allow the lime 
tree to be removed.  In coming to this conclusion I am mindful that the trees were present before 
the houses were built and residents of these properties would have known that the trees were 
protected before purchasing them.  The costs of maintaining the tree(s) could have been 
factored in at the time.   

(23) The problems identified are common in urban areas where trees and houses are 
located close to each other.  Although sap and bird excrement might be a nuisance, the issue 
is not insurmountable and would not detract from the overall ability to enjoy their properties in 
my view.  I have identified no particular reason why this lime tree should be allowed to be 
removed in this case.  The amenity impact from the loss of the tree are not be outweighed by 
the problems put forward by the applicant and her neighbours in my view. 

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(24) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(25) Whilst I sympathise with local residents with regard to the concerns they raise, these 
are not exceptional reasons in my opinion which would justify the removal of a healthy tree.  
There are pruning options available which would lessen the impact of the tree.  

(26) The tree is in good health with no arboricultural need for its removal.  The loss of the 
tree would have a significant detrimental visual impact on the character and appearance of the 
area and I consider that the application should therefore be refused.

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal of consent to fell.

01 The removal of 1 No. Lime tree is unnecessary and unjustified with no arboricultural 
reason for its removal, resulting in harm to the visual amenities of the area, contrary to 
Policies DP2 and DP25 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017.



FS

TCB

39.84m

42.8m

39
.4

m

El

Rectory

St Peter and

Playground

BM
St Paul Church

Hall
ST PAUL'S CLOSE

SW
A

N
SC

O
M

B
E 

S
TR

E
ET

BETS
H

AM
 R

O
AD

MUNFORD DRIVE

Jupiter

Clinic

GUNN ROAD

Br
i M

ar
ie

C
ha

vi
rit

SEYMOUR WALK

9 to 15

Oast House

29 to 35

83 to 93

21 to 27

Day

1

5

8

6

72

34

7

2
14

94

95

13

19

35

86

11
4

11
0

15

17

10

46

16

26

3

27
22

117125 107

76

60

24

25

88

37

Lych Gate

108

106
96

52
64

49

LB

34.7m

35.4m

Chapel

D Fn

3

1

24

6

16

1

5

14

SWANSCOMBE STREET

Playground

FS

19

1

86

15

17

1

26
1

2

2
13

17

1

10
22

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01371/TPO

Address : 3 St Pauls Close Swanscombe Kent DA10 0BA 

Date: 3 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DELEGATED LIST
OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Excluding Ebbsfleet UDC Applications

Date Report Compiled: 3-Jan-2019
Period for Report:  30/11/2018 to 03/01/2019

Plan Ref 18/01451/TRCON Date Issued 20/12/2018
Location 3A & B Hook Place Cottages And Weavers Hook Green Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9NL 
Proposal Notification to fell 2 No. Ash trees within Hook Green Conservation Area
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01588/EDCCON Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for the variation of Condition 2 attached to Reserved Matters planning 

permission reference no. EDC/17/0118 in relation to a change in house types and materials and to 
discharge conditions 4 and 5 of that same permission relating to materials within Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Objection
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01659/EDCCON Date Issued 28/12/2018
Location 5 Ekman Close Weldon Ebbsfleet Valley Kent DA10 1AR 
Proposal Consultation on an application for the change of use of rear two thirds of the detached garage into a 

habitable space retaining the front third as a garage/storage area, and installation of patio doors to side 
elevation of the garage to enable access from the garden within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Observations
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/00201/EDCCON Date Issued 02/01/2019
Location Land At London Road And West Of Craylands Lane Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on application for the variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission reference no.

EDC/17/0146 (Variation of condition 7 of planning permission 14/01689/OUT (Outline application for 
residential development for up to 110 mixed tenure units, including a new vehicular access to 
Craylands Lane, including emergency access and creation of a development platform and associated 
works including the demolition of existing buildings) to update the requirements for a reptile mitigation 
strategy) to allow revisions to the parameter plans within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Observations
Officer Sue Wright

Page 1 of 19



Plan Ref 18/00068/OUT Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Block Of 27 Lock-Up Garages Rear Of 33 & 35 Myrtle Road Oakfield Lane Dartford
Proposal Outline application for demolition and re-siting of 27 No. lock up garages and erection of a three storey 

block of 9 No. 2 bed flats with partial under croft and external parking spaces and enlarged vehicle 
crossover (consideration of access, landscaping, layout and scale only)

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of outline permission
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01498/EDCCON Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Castle Hill South Eastern Quarry Watling Street Swanscombe Kent
Proposal Consultation on an application for Reserved Matters application for the creation of the Linear Park, lake 

and cliff edge open space, together with associated landscaping details pursuant to Conditions 2 and 25 
of extant outline planning permission DA/12/01451/EQVAR within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01336/TPO Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location Peveril New Barn Road Longfield Kent DA3 7JB 
Proposal Application to reduce height by up to 2.5m and reduce spread by up to 2m of 1 No. Magnolia tree 

subject to Tree Preservation Order No.7 1988

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01407/TPO Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Clevis New Barn Road Longfield Kent DA3 7JE 
Proposal Application to fell to ground 1 No. multi stemmed Ash tree and replant 1 No. Field Maple tree subject to 

Tree Preservation Order No. 1 1988

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01385/TPO Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Sutton Court  12 Main Road Sutton At Hone DA4 9EX
Proposal Application to reduce crown by approx 30% and remove major dead wood and clean the crown by 

removing crossing and damaged branches to 1 Ash tree (in car park) and pollard to old points to 2 No. 
Lime trees (adjacent boundary with 10 Chaplin Court) and reduce by approx 50% to 1 No. Lime tree (on
front corner) subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1992

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01342/TPO Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 4 Longfield Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7LF 
Proposal Application to fell 1 No. Beech tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.2 1965
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 2 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01320/TPO Date Issued 06/12/2018
Location 40 Chalk Close Dartford Kent DA1 1AN 
Proposal Application to reduce by no more than 2m and cut back lower branch over garage to give a 1.5m 

clearance of 1 No. Ash tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No. 3 1986.

Ward Brent
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01295/TPO Date Issued 03/12/2018
Location 34 Anvil Terrace Dartford Kent DA2 7WR 
Proposal Application for a 1 metre reduction on the sides tapering in to the height without executing a height 

reduction leaving the tree balanced and reshaped, remove epicormic regrowth to crown break of 1 No. 
Yew tree (T1) subject to Tree Preservation Order No.9 1995

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01432/LDC Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location 127 The Brent Dartford Kent DA1 1YH 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of a dormer extension in rear 

elevation, roof lights in front elevation and obscure glazed window in flank elevation in connection with 
providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Newtown
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01467/LDC Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 47 Attlee Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5DN 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Littlebrook
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01313/LDC Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 83 Chastilian Road Dartford Kent DA1 3JY 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection 
with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Heath
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01261/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 50 Pentstemon Drive Swanscombe Kent DA10 0NJ 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey front extension, single storey rear extension, conversion of 

existing integral garage to habitable room and provision of dormer windows in rear elevation and roof 
lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional room in the roof space

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 3 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01334/FUL Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 6 Chastilian Road Dartford Kent DA1 3JJ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension incorporating demolition of existing rear conservatory
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01335/FUL Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 9 Wallis Close Wilmington Kent DA2 7BE 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side/rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01405/FUL Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location 10 Silver Birch Close Wilmington Kent DA2 7NH 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and new/replacement windows to altered positions in flank side

elevation

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01473/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 13 Rosedale Close Dartford Kent DA2 6AL 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory and erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01322/FUL Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Creswick Nurseries Dartford Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9HY 
Proposal Installation of a 50kW system of ground mounted solar panels
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01446/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 10 Yew Tree Close Longfield Kent DA3 7LB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey front extension and new hardstanding
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01484/FUL Date Issued 03/01/2019
Location 9 Banbury Villas Hook Green Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9NF 
Proposal Provision of a vehicle crossing onto C275 Hook Green Road
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 4 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01393/FUL Date Issued 20/12/2018
Location 15 Broad Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7AQ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey front extension with continuation of pitched roof over existing flat roof front 

projection

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00585/FUL Date Issued 03/12/2018
Location Flat Above 106 - 108 Milton Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Provision of external steel staircase and entrance door for creation of self-contained first floor 2 

bedroom flat

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/00228/FUL Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location Eastwood Metals Opposite 151 Lower Hythe Street Dartford Kent DA1 1BN
Proposal Erection of a detached storage building together with ancillary offices, kitchen and W.C. facilities with 

associated car parking

Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01275/FUL Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location 59 Norfield Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7NY 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension (revisions to previous approved planning permission 

DA/18/00188/FUL in respect of increased size of side extension)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01294/FUL Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 12 Marcus Road Dartford Kent DA1 3JX 
Proposal Alterations to roof from hip end to gable end for provision of a dormer window with Juliette balcony in 

rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01298/FUL Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 4 Keith Avenue Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9HH 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side/rear extension, raising height of roof and provision of 3 No. dormer 

windows in both side elevations, windows in front and rear elevations in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 5 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01286/TPO Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location Playgound At The Green Darenth Kent  
Proposal Application to reduce by 30 % (approx. 2m) 1 No. Lime tree (T1) subject to Tree Preservation Order 

No.1 1995

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Refused - Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01378/FUL Date Issued 13/12/2018
Location Land At Woodward Terrace, Rear Of 11 Carlton Avenue Horns Cross Kent  
Proposal Erection of single storey 2 bed bungalow with associated access and parking onto Woodward Terrace
Ward Stone
Decision Application Refused - Cramped development out of character negatively affect existing and future 

residential amenity exacerbate onstreet parking pressures creating conditions prejudicial to highway and 
pedestrian safety harm from development of garden land

Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01350/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 76 Birchwood Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7HG 
Proposal Demolition of existing bungalow and erection of a detached two storey house with rooms in the roof 

space and single storey rear projection, detached double garage and new front and side boundary wall 
and gates

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Undue disruption to the street scene, detrimental to the character of the area, 

detrimental impact on residential amenities contrary to policies DP2, DP5 and DP7
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01397/FUL Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location 49 Pentstemon Drive Swanscombe Kent DA10 0NL 
Proposal Provision of a dormer window in side elevation and roof lights in front and rear elevation in connection 

with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Refused - Detrimental visual impact; unbalances
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01227/FUL Date Issued 06/12/2018
Location 15 Abbey Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WP 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear/side extension to connect to existing detached garage together with 

conversion of part of existing garage to habitable room and provision of roof lights in north facing roof 
slope of garage

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Loss of a mature TPO tree
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01421/TPO Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location 9 Garrow Longfield Kent DA3 7JN 
Proposal Application to fell 1 No. Silver Birch tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.1 1988
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Refused - Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 6 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01449/FUL Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location 160 Summerhouse Drive Bexley Kent DA2 7PD 
Proposal Provision of a front driveway and erection of a compound wall with gates for vehicular and pedestrian 

access

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Out of character; detrimental to visual amenity; impact on highway safety
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01315/FUL Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location Air And Breathe 37 Essex Road Dartford Kent DA1 2AU 
Proposal Provision of fire exit gates and screening to enclose existing entrance way and smoking area
Ward Town
Decision Application refused, Detrimental impact to visual amenity, highway and pedestrian safety and non-

compliance with the Local Plan aim of revitalising the town centre.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00406/LBC Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Mansion House Acacia Hall High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DJ 
Proposal Application for listed building consent for installation of a new access ramp to the side (North) elevation,

which will connect to the existing front (West) elevation raised walkway, to provide step free access; 
New external lighting to the front (West) and side (North) elevations and switchgear in the basement.

Ward Town
Decision Consent for LB
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01289/ADV Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Land At St Clements Way 
Proposal Display of a sales sign on land adjacent to junction of St Clements Way at entrance to Bluewater 

(retrospective application)

Ward Castle
Decision Refusal of Advert - Impact on visual amenities of the area
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01528/NONMAT Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 11 Nurstead Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HG 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/17/01110/FUL in 

respect of window and door locations/sizes amended including additional door and window to side

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01533/NONMAT Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Highbank House Common Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7DB 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/16/00721/FUL in 

respect of external material change from vertical tile hung walls to Weatherboard 'Cedral' colour of 
horizontal panelling to be cream white

Ward Wilmington
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 7 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01241/CDNA Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location Hazelwood Rowhill Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7QQ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures pursuant to condition 5 of planning permission

DA/15/01324/FUL for demolition of Hazelwood and ancillary building within the boundary of the 
property and the erection of a detached 5 bedroom house

Ward Wilmington
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01496/CDNA Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location Land North Of Hedge Place Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to interim verification certificate for Plots 1 & 2 pursuant to condition 4 of

planning permission DA/12/01150/FUL for erection of 56 dwellings comprising 33 x 3 bedrooms and 
11 x 4 bedroom houses and 12 x 2 bedroom flats together with associated landscaping works, parking 
and infrastructure works

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01194/CDNA Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological works pursuant to condition 5 of planning permission 

DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible 
permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01384/CDNA Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location Premier Inn Halcrow Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 5FX 
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction management plan pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/18/00833/FUL for extensions to hotel and restaurant blocks to provide an additional 45 
bedrooms and 40 covers to the restaurant with alterations to car park to provide an additional 9 parking 
spaces and other associated works

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01037/CDNA Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction environmental management plan pursuant to condition 23 

of planning permission DA/16/01919/FUL for development comprising (a) detailed permission for the 
demolition of existing buildings, refurbishment of No. 26 Lowfield Street and the construction of  188 
dwellings, retail units, office, cafe/micro-brewery, detailed landscape strategy, car parking, new internal 
access roads, sustainable urban drainage  systems; and associated infrastructure and earthworks (b) 
outline permission, with all matters reserved except access, for the demolition of existing  buildings and 
the erection of up to 360 dwellings, flexibility for the following Use Classes:- A1 (retail), A2 (financial 
and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) and D1 (non-residential institutions) fronting 
Lowfield Street, new internal access roads, car parking, sustainable urban drainage systems; and 
associated landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Page 8 of 19



Plan Ref 18/01431/CDNA Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to contaminated land pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/00499/FUL for erection of a part three/part four storey building to provide a 75 bedroom care 
home and ancillary external works

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01556/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Acacia Hall High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction management plan pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/18/00185/FUL

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01437/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological works pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01585/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Russells Yard Whitehill Road Southfleet Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to planting area pursuant to condition 2 of planning permission 

DA/18/01195/COU for change of use from wood yard to storage use, for the stationing of shipping 
containers for individual long term storage use (retrospective application)

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01551/CDNA Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 30 St Albans Road Dartford Kent DA1 1TE 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00686/FUL for demolition of existing workshop and erection of a detached single storey building 
to provide office (B1a)

Ward Newtown
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 9 of 19



Plan Ref 18/00803/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Former 119 Main Road Sutton At Hone Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise vibration and dust (condition 3), surface water and foul drainage 

(condition 4) and construction management plan (condition 5) of planning permission DA/17/01287/FUL
for demolition of existing bungalow and erection of 4 No. two storey semi-detached 3 bed dwellings 
with rooms in the roof and rear dormer additions. Associated Parking

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01250/CDNA Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location Hazelwood Rowhill Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7QQ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/15/01324/FUL for demolition of Hazelwood and ancillary building within the boundary of the 
property and the erection of a detached 5 bedroom house

Ward Wilmington
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01463/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/16/00499/FUL for erection of a part three/part four storey building to provide a 75 bedroom care 
home and ancillary external works

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01465/CDNA Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Development Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water drainage pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/16/00499/FUL for erection of a part three/part four storey building to provide a 75 bedroom care 
home and ancillary external works

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01414/CDNA Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 8 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Page 10 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01138/CDNA Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location Swanscombe Health Centre  Southfleet Road Swanscombe DA10 0BF
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological work pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/00880/FUL for erection of a two storey rear extension

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01558/CDNA Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location Acacia Hall High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to Historic building recording pursuant to condition 4 of planning 

permission DA/18/00185/FUL

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01415/P3O Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location West Hill House West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class O of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (as amended) as to whether prior approval is required for the change of use 
of 4 floors of West Hill House from B1 (a) office building to Class C3 (dwellings) to provide 4 No. 
residential dwellings with associated parking

Ward West Hill
Decision Prior Approval Approved
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00202/EDCCON Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location Land At London Road And West Of Craylands Lane Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on reserved matters application (matters relating to appearance, scale, layout and 

landscaping) for the erection of 103 dwellings together with associated infrastructure including details of
a surface water drainage scheme and noise attenuation measures, being details pursuant to outline 
permission reference DA/14/01689/OUT as varied by permission reference EDC/17/0146 and 
EDC/18/0027 within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision EDC - Raises Concerns; High noise levels, cramped layout
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01453/PDE Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 85 Shepherds Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2PA 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Heath
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 11 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01526/PDE Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location Nevada Hook Green Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7AJ 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Wilmington
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01527/PDE Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location 31 Tredegar Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AY 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Wilmington
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01416/PDE Date Issued 13/12/2018
Location 66 Norman Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LF 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Princes
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01459/PDE Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 38 West View Road Dartford Kent DA1 1TR 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Newtown
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01388/PDE Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location 110 Brent Lane Dartford Kent DA1 1QX 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Brent
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 12 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01445/PDE Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 32 Swaisland Road Dartford Kent DA1 3DE 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward West Hill
Decision Prior Approval Required and Approved
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01383/PDE Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location 6 Leyton Cross Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AP 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Wilmington
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused; Not permitted development
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01619/EDCCON Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Eastern Quarry Watling Street Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for submission of detail relating to air quality monitoring pursuant to 

condition 21 of planning permission EDC/17/0048 for variation of conditions 3 & 4 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 12/01451/EQVAR for a mixed use development of up to 6,250 dwellings & up 
to 231,000 square metres of non-residential floor space with associated infrastructure and open space; 
to allow for the substitution of approved parameter plans and documents under condition 3 and revised 
strategies under condition 4.

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made; Encourage the consideration and use of detailed mitigation measures to offset 

increase in emissions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01539/EDCCON Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application to vary Condition 10 and 11 attached to planning permission 

EDC/16/0083 to extend retail unit opening hours and delivery hours at Ackers Drive, Ebbsfleet, Kent 
within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made; Misgivings over allowing early/late deliveries and those during Sundays and Public 
Holidays
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01512/EDCCON Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on submission of Reserved Matters of siting, design, external appearance and landscaping, 

pursuant to Conditions 2, 19, 26, 36 and 43 of outline planning permission EDC/16/0045 for Phase 2c 
development of 116 residential units including details of streets, buildings and structures, materials, open
space, car parking, noise and drainage within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made; Parking and open space/residential amentity
Officer Steven Bell

Page 13 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01326/TPO Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location 12 The Gables Longfield Kent DA3 7LR 
Proposal Application to remove to ground 1 No, Ash tree (T1) and crown lift to 10m 1 No Ash tree (T2) subject 

to Tree Preservation Order No.11 1982

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary, excessive and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01440/TPO Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location 10 Ridgewood Southfleet Kent DA3 7LS 
Proposal Application to reduce back overhang over the lawn by 3/4 metres and remove trunk sucker growth and 

cut ivy at the base of 1 No. T1-Common Ash tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.9 1988

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01301/FUL Date Issued 03/12/2018
Location The Wharf Galleon Boulevard Crossways Business Park Dartford Kent DA2 6QE 
Proposal Erection of an extension of the existing catering kitchen, extension of the existing service yard and 

associated alterations to the adjacent landscaping, installation of a new walk-in cold store, installation of 
a new external bar servery, installation of a new external remote store, and alterations to the existing 
doors and windows

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01423/FUL Date Issued 28/12/2018
Location 15 Kent Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QR 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part first floor, part single storey rear/side extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01117/FUL Date Issued 06/12/2018
Location Darent Valley Hospital Darenth Wood Road Darenth Kent DA2 8DA 
Proposal Erection of replacement motorbike park, comprising of free standing shelter, hardstanding, 8 No, 

stainless steel bollards, 34 motor bike security devices and associated lighting as well as new footpath 
connecting to existing hospital footpath system

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01474/FUL Date Issued 27/12/2018
Location 12 Fairway Drive Dartford Kent DA2 6AR 
Proposal Demolish existing garage and erection of a detached outbuilding comprising garage, workshop and gym
Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 14 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01370/FUL Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 7 London Road Stone Kent DA2 6DL 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and part single/part two storey rear extension and roof light 

inside elevation (revisions to previously approved planning permission DA/18/00166/FUL)

Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01402/FUL Date Issued 21/12/2018
Location 23 Larch Road Dartford Kent DA1 2LF 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01390/FUL Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location 26 Pincroft Wood Longfield Kent DA3 7HB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension to lounge
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01237/FUL Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 10 Orchard Terrace Cotton Lane Stone Kent DA9 9AX 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01495/FUL Date Issued 14/12/2018
Location Hill View Dartford DA1 5UT
Proposal Provision of a replacement 1.8m high boundary fence fronting Temple Hill and Temple Hill Square
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01281/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location The Coach House Rowhill Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7QQ 
Proposal Demolition of The Coach House and ancillary buildings and the erection of a 5 bedroom detached 

dwelling and 3-bay detached garage

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Page 15 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01395/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 54 Sandringham Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WL 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01321/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 55 Eden Road Bexley Kent DA5 2EQ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01338/FUL Date Issued 12/12/2018
Location 89 Stonewood Bean Kent DA2 8BZ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side/front extension with roof lights in front and rear elevation to provide 

additional rooms in roof space of extension

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01400/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 87 Darenth Park Avenue Darenth Kent DA2 6LX 
Proposal Erection of a detached summerhouse
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01312/FUL Date Issued 06/12/2018
Location 26 Nelson Road Dartford Kent DA1 3EJ 
Proposal Erection of a first floor rear extension, single storey front extension and formation of a recessed 

entranceway

Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01003/FUL Date Issued 19/12/2018
Location 44 Cedar Drive Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9EN 
Proposal Erection of a single rear extension, first floor side extension, erection of front porch and conversion of 

rear part of garage to habitable room

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 16 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01455/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 68 Norman Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LF 
Proposal Erection of a part two storey/part single storey side/rear extension
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01208/FUL Date Issued 04/12/2018
Location 21 Woodlands Park Bexley Kent DA5 2EN 
Proposal Demolition of existing detached garage and erection of two single storey side/rear/front extensions and 

single storey rear porch extension

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01359/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 49 Broomhill Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HT 
Proposal Erection of a side boundary wall with brick piers (retrospective application)
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01411/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 7 Pilgrims Way Dartford Kent DA1 1QZ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01412/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 19 Dene Close Wilmington Kent DA2 7ND 
Proposal Erection of a rear conservatory
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01413/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 105 Wentworth Drive Dartford Kent DA1 3NQ 
Proposal Demolition of existing single storey side extension and erection of two storey side extension
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 17 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01039/FUL Date Issued 03/12/2018
Location The Wharf Galleon Boulevard Crossways Business Park Dartford Kent DA2 6QE 
Proposal Erection of a terrace/ balcony from ground floor level across north-west elevation; Replace existing 

double doors leading to rear terrace with frameless glass double doors and side panels; New flat roof 
over; Replace existing entrance lobby doors on east elevation with frameless glass double doors; Replace
3 No. existing sash windows to North-east elevation with new sliding/ folding glazed doors; Remove 2 
No. folding doors to south- west elevation to accommodate new internal fireplace; Construct 4 No. 
windows to either side; Remove existing external walk-in fridge roof and construct new walk-in fridge 
and freezer leading from catering kitchen; Install 3 No. New awnings to lakeside elevations; External 
refurbishment including decoration of existing windows and doors and new external lighting throughout

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01290/FUL Date Issued 11/12/2018
Location 144 Knockhall Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9EY 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear extension and erection of a two storey side extension and front porch
Ward Greenhithe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01429/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 2 Capel Place Wilmington Kent DA2 7PU 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey side extension with integral garage incorporating demolition of 

existing detached garage

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01420/FUL Date Issued 10/12/2018
Location 9 Longfield Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7LF 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension and single storey side extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01460/FUL Date Issued 03/01/2019
Location 74 Devonshire Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 3DW 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear/side extension
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01461/FUL Date Issued 18/12/2018
Location 17 Pincroft Wood Longfield Kent DA3 7HB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 18 of 19



 Plan Ref 18/01386/FUL Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location 7A Lapwings Longfield Kent DA3 7NH 
Proposal Conversion of integral garage into habitable room with associated alterations to front elevation and 

provision of additional parking space

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01291/FUL Date Issued 30/11/2018
Location 1 Fleet Road Dartford Kent DA2 6JE 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension, single storey rear/side extension, alterations to roof from hip 

end to gable end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in 
connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00830/LDC Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location 57 The Green Darenth Kent DA2 6JU 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of dormer window in rear 

elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01368/TPO Date Issued 07/12/2018
Location 87 Darenth Park Avenue Darenth Kent DA2 6LX 
Proposal Application for removal of 1 No. Maple tree and 1 No. Apple tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 

No.1 1995

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 16/02002/CDNA Date Issued 05/12/2018
Location Land North Of Hedge Place Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to street/public lighting pursuant to condition 20 of planning permission 

DA/12/01150/FUL (granted on appeal) for erection of 56 dwellings comprising 33 x 3 bedrooms and 11 
x 4 bedroom houses and 12 x 2 bedroom flats together with associated landscaping works, parking and 
infrastructure

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Page 19 of 19




	Agenda
	 Update
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2018
	6 18/01002/OUT<br/> The Alma, 26 High Street, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0AB
	7 18/01371/TPO <br/> 3 St Pauls Close, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 OBA.
	8 Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers

